RECEIVED

May 28 2021

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Honorable G. Thomas Cooper, Jr., Circuit Court Judge
Honorable Doyet A. Early, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No.: 2018-000065

David Lee Meggett,

Petitioner,

vs.

State of South Carolina,

Respondent.

BRIEF OF PETITIONER

Tricia A. Blanchette
Post Office Box 2147
Leesville, SC 29070
(803) 908-3266
Attorney for Petitioner

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

- I. Whether the lower court erred in finding that counsel was not deficient nor was there resulting prejudice when counsel failed to enter a challenge pursuant to *Batson v. Kentucky*, 476 U.S. 79, 106 S.Ct. 1712 (1986).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

During the June 2009 term of the Charleston County Grand Jury, Petitioner was indicted for Burglary, First Degree, and Criminal Sexual Conduct, First Degree (2009-GS-10-4829, 4830). App. p. 848. On November 8, 2010, a trial was held in front of the Honorable Kristi L. Harrington and a jury. App. p. 1. Petitioner was represented by Beattie Butler, Esquire. On November 10, 2010, Petitioner was found guilty as indicted and sentenced to a term of thirty (30) years concurrently on both charges. App. p. 848.

A timely Notice of Appeal was filed, and the appeal was perfected by Breen Stevens, Esquire. The following issues were briefed on behalf of Petitioner:

1. The trial court erred by refusing Meggett's request for time to have a comforter examined for DNA, upon which he asserts a prior consensual encounter occurred between him and the complaining witness, and which, if positive, would have discredited the complaining witness's testimony regarding their relationship and prior sexual encounters.
2. The State's reference during closing argument to a lack of evidence supporting the interpretation of the defense's theory impermissibly shifted the burden upon Meggett as an indirect comment on the defendant's right to remain silent.
3. The trial court should have directed a verdict of not guilty for the offense of first degree burglary based upon the lack of evidence regarding Meggett's intent to commit a crime at the time he entered the dwelling.

App. p. 474. On June 5, 2012, an oral argument was conducted. An Opinion affirming Petitioner's convictions and sentences was entered on June 27, 2012. *State v. Meggett*, Op. No. 4994 (S.C. Ct. App. June 27, 2012). App. p. 544. The remittitur was issued on July 13, 2012.

On June 25, 2013, an Application for Post Conviction Relief was filed. App. p. 554. The State submitted a Return on December 11, 2013. App. p. 562. On September 8,

2014, Tricia A. Blanchette filed a Motion for Discovery, which was heard by the Honorable G. Thomas Cooper, Jr., on that same date at the Charleston County Courthouse. App. p. 567. On September 29, 2014, the Honorable G. Thomas Cooper, Jr. issued an Order Substituting Counsel and Authorizing Discovery in Post Conviction Relief. App. p. 572.

On December 21, 2015, Petitioner, through counsel, amended his Application by adding the following specific allegations to his original claim of ineffective assistance of trial counsel and added the claim of ineffective assistance of appellate counsel:

1. Ineffective assistance of trial counsel for failing to properly prepare and conduct a reasonable investigation into Applicant's case prior to going to trial.
2. Ineffective assistance of trial counsel for failing to communicate with Applicant adequately and timely prior to trial regarding the State's case, specifically the DNA evidence, which resulted in counsel's failure to obtain a DNA expert and the denial of a continuance motion for the testing of "critical" evidence.
3. Ineffective assistance of trial counsel for failing to consult with Applicant on and articulate a clear defense strategy prior to and during trial. Ineffective assistance for providing the jury with the following alternate and incomplete defense theories that lead to confusion and prejudice to Applicant: 1) Applicant engaged in consensual sex with the victim, and 2) the DNA and physical evidence does not establish that sexual intercourse took place between Applicant and victim on the date in question.
4. Ineffective assistance of trial counsel for informing the court that Applicant would testify to prior sexual encounters and informing the jury during opening and closing argument that Applicant engaged in a consensual sexual encounter with victim, yet advising Applicant to not take the stand at trial to testify to such.
5. Ineffective assistance of trial counsel for failing to question victim about her knowledge of Applicant's prior profession and possible motive for the allegations.

6. Ineffective assistance of trial counsel for failing to make a reasonable argument for a directed verdict on the burglary charge.
7. Ineffective assistance of trial counsel for failing to put up a defense through witnesses and evidence.
8. Ineffective assistance of trial counsel for failing make the arguments made on direct appeal regarding the State's closing argument; thus, failing to properly preserve the issues for appeal.
9. Ineffective assistance of trial counsel for arguments made to the jury during opening and closing arguments that interjected consensual sex into the trial, help support the State's theory of the case and provided the jury with two conflicting defense theories.
10. Ineffective assistance of appellate counsel for failing to argue that Applicant had consent to be in the dwelling he was charged with burglarizing.
11. Pursuant to Rule 15(b), SCRPC, Applicant would move to amend to conform to the evidence and testimony presented at the evidentiary hearing.

App. p. 576.

On April 1, 2016, Petitioner filed a Motion for Indigent Funds. App. p. 579.

On April 18, 2016, a hearing was held at the Charleston County Courthouse in front of the Honorable Doyet A. Early. App. p. 594. Petitioner was present and represented by Tricia A. Blanchette, Esquire. Respondent was represented by J. Rutledge Johnson, Assistant Attorney General. At the conclusion of the hearing, Judge Early took the matter under advisement. Thereafter, Judge Early informed both parties that he intended to deny the motion and requested that the State submit a proposed Order. As was addressed on the record at the evidentiary hearing, a signed Order was not issued until November 30, 2016 and was filed on December 7, 2016. App. p. 622.

On December 7, 2016, an evidentiary hearing was conducted at the Charleston County Courthouse in front of the Honorable G. Thomas, Cooper, Jr. App. p. 624.

Petitioner was present and represented by Tricia A. Blanchette, Esquire. Respondent was represented by Alicia Olive, Assistant Attorney General.

At the start of the evidentiary hearing, Petitioner's counsel made a motion to verbally amend the Application to include a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel for failure to make a *Batson* challenge at trial. App. p. 632. Respondent objected. App. p. 633. After hearing from both parties and inquiring of defense counsel, the motion was granted. App. p. 634

During the evidentiary hearing, Petitioner took the stand and called the following witnesses: Bernard Kelly, Beattie Butler, Esquire, and Breen Stevens, Esquire. The State called Chad Simpson, Esquire. At the conclusion of the hearing, the court took the matter under advisement and requested proposed Orders from both parties. On September 18, 2017, an Order of Dismissal was issued by the Honorable G. Thomas Cooper, Jr. App. p. 770. Petitioner, through counsel, filed a timely Motion, Pursuant to Rule 59, SCRPC. App. p. 832. Respondent filed a Response. App. p. 839. On December 12, 2017, an Order Denying Applicant's Motion to Alter or Amend the Judgment was issued. App. p. 847.

On January 17, 2018, Petitioner, through counsel, filed a Notice of Intent to Appeal. A Petition for Writ of Certiorari and Appendices were filed on August 24, 2018. Respondent filed a Return on September 24, 2018. On April 2, 2021, the South Carolina Court of Appeals issued an Order granting certiorari as to Question 1 and denying as to Question 2 and 3, from which this Brief follows.

ARGUMENT

- I. The lower court erred in finding that counsel was not deficient nor was there resulting prejudice when counsel failed to enter a challenge pursuant to *Batson v. Kentucky*, 476 U.S. 79, 106 S.Ct. 1712 (1986).

- A. Standard of Review

In a Post Conviction Relief Appeal, great deference is given to the lower court's findings of fact but deference is not given to conclusions of law. *Smalls v. State*, 422 S.C. 174, 810 S.E.2d 836 (2018). The existence of "any evidence" of probative value is sufficient to uphold the lower court's ruling on findings of fact. *Webb v. State*, 281 S.C. 237, 314 S.E.2d 839 (1984). Questions of law are reviewed *de novo*, and the appellate court "will reverse the decision of the PCR court when it is controlled by an error of law." *Goins v. State*, 397 S.C. 568, 573, 726 S.E.2d 1, 3 (2012).

- B. Summary of the Evidentiary Hearing Testimony

On December 7, 2016, an evidentiary hearing was conducted at the Charleston county Courthouse in front of the Honorable G. Thomas, Cooper, Jr. App. p. 624. Applicant was present and represented by Tricia A. Blanchette, Esquire. The State was represented by Alicia Olive, Assistant Attorney General.

At the start of the evidentiary hearing, Petitioner's counsel made a motion to verbally amend the Application to include a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel for failure to make a *Batson* challenge at trial. App. p. 632. The State objected but did not request a continuance. App. pp. 633-634. After hearing from both parties and inquiring of defense counsel, the motion to amend was granted. App. p. 634.

During the evidentiary hearing, Petitioner took the stand and called the following witnesses: Bernard Kelly, Beattie Butler, Esquire, and Breen Stevens, Esquire. The State called Chad Simpson, Esquire.

When called to the stand, Bernard Kelly explained he had been friends with Petitioner since childhood. App. p. 638. He recalled seeing on the news that Petitioner had been charged. He further recalled thinking it was “strange” that Petitioner had been charged since he had previously seen Petitioner and victim together and was introduced to victim. App. pp. 638-640, 643-644. He testified that he was not contacted by defense counsel or anyone on Petitioner’s behalf prior to trial. App. p. 641. He stated that he would have been willing to discuss his interaction with Petitioner and victim with defense counsel, and he would have been willing to testify at trial.¹ App. pp. 641-642.

When Beattie Butler took the stand, he recalled his representation of Petitioner, but he could not remember how many times they met prior to trial. App. p. 645. He testified that he saw in his notes that he had needed to get phone records, which he assumed were between Petitioner and victim, but he did not know what became of it beyond the notes. App. pp. 645-646.

Regarding Mr. Kelly, Attorney Butler said his notes did not reference Mr. Kelly and he did not recall Petitioner asking him to speak to Mr. Kelly. App. pp. 646-647. When asked about the individuals he asked victim about at trial, he indicated that he did not recall why he did not locate or look into those individuals. App. pp. 174, 648-649. In response to whether he was able to locate any witnesses to establish that victim was a

¹ During cross-examination, Mr. Kelly acknowledged a 1996 arrest charge for giving false information and explained it was the result of a traffic stop. App. pp. 642-643.

squatter, Attorney Butler responded that he was not trying to establish that victim did not have a right to be in the house but that she was looking for money. App. pp. 648-649.

Turning to the agreement to not mention Petitioner's NFL career during trial, Attorney Butler stated he could not recall why he made that decision, but he could hazard a guess that he was concerned with jurors researching Petitioner and finding prior sexual misconduct allegations.² App. pp. 649-650. He agreed that if he could have established victim knew about Petitioner's NFL career, it would have impeached her testimony. App. pp. 183-184, 650.

Attorney Butler was directed to the transcript, which reflected that four of the State's strikes were used on African Americans, and he was asked why he did not raise a challenge pursuant to *Batson*. App. p. 10, 651. He responded that he did not have an independent recollection. App. p. 651, lns. 5-11. When asked if a *Batson* motion was a motion he typically makes in a case, he testified: "I have made them and I have declined to make them." App. p. 651, lns. 12-14.

On cross-examination, Attorney Butler again stated that he did not have a specific reason for not making a *Batson* motion. App. pp. 694, 697. When asked if the racial make-up of the jury could have had an impact on his decision, he responded: "It likely could." App. p. 696, lns. 10-19.

On redirect, Attorney Butler acknowledged that the State struck two black females that answered that they had a family member in prison (Juror #134, 214), but the State sat a white female juror with a family member in prison and on probation (Juror #274). App. pp. 10, 47-49, 53-56, 702. He further acknowledged that the State struck a

² On cross-examination, he testified that he was not concerned that any prior allegations would come in if Petitioner testified. App. pp. 693-694.

black male after seating Juror #274. App. pp. 10, 702-703. He stated that he could have argued that the State's race neutral reason behind its strikes was pre-textual, but he did not make a *Batson* challenge. App. pp. 703-704.

On re-cross, Attorney Butler was asked to review his notes and if there was anything "contained in those notes that would have given you a reason not to make a *Batson* motion?" App. p. 705, lns. 5-6. He responded that there was nothing in his notes to corroborate his prior testimony that a reason could be getting a worse jury. App. p. 705, lns. 7-8. He further responded: "I can't tell you that I went through the thought process of noticing that the State had used for four or five strikes on African-Americans and, therefore, I could make a *Batson* motion, but chose not to, because I liked the jury. I can't say that I did that. But that could be a reason why I might not have." App. p. 705, lns. 9-14.

When asked about his motion for a continuance for time to conduct DNA testing of a comforter, he explained that he thought he would get the continuance. App. pp. 12-17, 657-659. He indicated that he told Petitioner's family to secure the comforter, but he did not know if it was secured or ever made available for testing. App. pp. 659-660. Attorney Butler confirmed that it would have helped show the critical nature of getting the comforter tested if he had informed the trial court that Petitioner may not take the stand. App. pp. 660-662.

Attorney Butler acknowledged that he stated the following to the trial court: "The only issue in the matter to be tried today is whether the sex that occurred on the incident date was consensual or by force." App. pp. 11, lns. 17-19, 652. He also acknowledged that he informed the trial court that evidence of sexual intercourse on several prior

occasions would be introduced through Petitioner's testimony.³ App. pp. 11, lns. 20-24, 652-653, 662-663. He explained that he planned for Petitioner to testify and he was surprised when the trial judge did not give them additional time to discuss whether or not Petitioner would testify. App. pp. 273-275, 376-378, 653-654. He recalled the decision was made late in trial for Petitioner to not take the stand. App. pp. 654-655. On cross-examination, he stated that it was Petitioner's decision whether or not to take the stand, but the decision was made under his advice. App. pp. 691-692.

When asked why he went into the details of night in question during his opening argument if it was still an open question if Petitioner would testify to those details, he responded that he thought he knew for certain that Petitioner was going to testify. App. pp. 667-668. He made it clear that he would not have gone into those details if he had known Petitioner would not testify. App. pp. 668-670, 679-680. He said he found Petitioner's account to be credible and believable. App. pp. 669-670.

Regarding the matters of defense strategy and his arguments before the jury, Attorney Butler conceded that he could see how it could be interpreted that his trial strategy shifted from consensual sex to a lack of DNA evidence that sexual intercourse occurred. App. pp. 656-657. He insisted that he stayed the course with consensual sex and did not abandon that defense. App. pp. 656, 673, 683-684. He also explained that he did not find the defenses to be mutually exclusive, but he did agree he could have probed the lack of DNA evidence harder. App. pp. 680-681.

³ Regarding the motion to introduce evidence of prior sexual encounters, Attorney Butler reviewed the motion and explained that the court's ruling appears "kind of confusing." He explained that he understood that Petitioner could testify to prior sexual encounters with victim. App. pp. 652-653, 663-664.

In closing, the State argued: “And in the opening statement Mr. Butler told you, yeah, they had sex on that bed. That’s been consented to.” App. p. 424, lns. 20-22. When asked about the State’s argument, he said he guessed his opening corroborated victim’s testimony. App. pp. 681-682. Later on in closing argument, the State concluded: “The defense in their opening gave a story that completely defies all common sense that, oh, they had consensual (sic) – consensual sex – consensual sex on the bed, he stops midway through then he assaults her. Defies common sense.” App. p. 426, lns. 20-24. After reviewing the argument, Attorney Butler testified that he should have objected to the State’s comments. When asked if he thought he opened the door to the comments, he responded – “Well, that’s the question isn’t it?” – he went on to testify that he either opened the door or failed to properly object. App. pp. 682-684, 690. He said it was on him if he should have objected. App. p. 690.

Turning to the burglary charge, Attorney Butler could not recall why he did not go further into the consent prong of the burglary charge to the jury or in his directed verdict argument. App. pp. 102, 373, 375, 685-686.

When Breen Stevens, Esquire, took the stand he acknowledged that he was previously at the Office of Appellate Defense and handled Petitioner’s direct appeal. App. p. 706. He indicated that he was currently working as a public defender. App. p. 714. He went through the process he utilized to identify and brief the issues presented to the appellate court. App. pp. 706-707.

He indicated that one of the first issues he always would check for is a “*Batson* issue.” App. p. 707. Referring to the transcript, he indicated that four out of five strikes used by the State were on African Americans, so he thought it was important to keep an

eye on the basis for that – to see if there was a challenge on race or gender raised by the defense. App. pp. 708-709. He shared his personal like of a good *Batson* issue on appeal. When asked to address the viability of the issue on appeal if Attorney Butler would have made a *Batson* challenge, he responded positively and explained the argument available since the State struck two African American female jurors and sat a similarly situated white female juror. App. pp. 707-710.

Turning to the continuance issue that was preserved and raised on appeal, he stated that he agreed that the DNA evidence was critical, and he agreed that Petitioner was prejudiced when the trial court did not allow time to get the testing completed. App. pp. 711-712. When asked if he saw a “conflict” between Attorney Butler’s opening regarding consensual sex and later argument regarding lack of evidence of sexual intercourse, he responded that he thought it was a daunting task in a CSC case to argue consent when the victim is a devout lesbian, especially in a case where the client did not testify. App. pp. 712-714. He testified that his job as an appellate defender is easier when there is a clear trial strategy going forward, which was not the case here. App. pp. 713-714. He indicated that he would have raised the issue regarding the State’s comments about what Attorney Butler said in opening, but he opined that Attorney Butler likely opened the door to the State’s argument. App. pp. 715-717.

When Petitioner took the stand, he recalled meeting with Attorney Butler two times, an initial meeting and a meeting informing him about the upcoming trial. App. pp. 721-722. He requested that Attorney Butler obtain victim’s phone records because the records would show victim contacted him about coming over on the night in question. App. pp. 721-723, 746-748. He also requested that Attorney Butler contact potential

witnesses including Bernard Kelly, who had seen him with the victim, and the individuals he knew as Spider and Pirate, who were regularly at victim's house. App. pp. 723-725.

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