**RECEIVED**

**Jun 07 2021**

**SC Court of Appeals**

**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

---

Appeal from Charleston County  
The Honorable G. Thomas Cooper, Jr., Circuit Court Judge  
The Honorable Doyet A. Early, Circuit Court Judge  
Appellate Case No. 2018-000065

---

DAVID LEE MEGGETT,

Petitioner,

vs.

THE STATE,

Respondent.

---

**BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

**ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General**

**DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Chief Deputy Attorney General**

**MELODY J. BROWN  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General**

**WILLIAM EDGAR SALTER, III  
Senior Assistant Attorney General**

**P. O. Box 11549  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211  
(803) 734-6305**

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

## ARGUMENT

**This Court must either dismiss certiorari as improvidently granted or affirm the PCR judge’s denial of Petitioner ineffective assistance of counsel claim because the record supports the PCR judge’s finding that Petitioner failed to prove either deficient performance or prejudice under *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984), from counsel’s failure to argue a *Batson*<sup>1</sup> motion. Also, Petitioner’s argument that the PCR judge’s “findings fail to address the testimony offered and the evidence available in the transcript regarding the jurors that were struck and sat on the jury” is not properly before this Court because Petitioner did not present it to the PCR judge, it was not argued in his proposed order, and he did not include this argument in his Rule 59(e), SCRCF, motion.**

Respondent submits that this Court must either dismiss certiorari as improvidently granted or affirm the PCR judge’s denial of Petitioner ineffective assistance of counsel claim because the record supports the PCR judge’s finding that Petitioner failed to prove either deficient performance or prejudice under *Strickland* from counsel’s failure to argue a *Batson* motion. *See App. 823-26*. Also, Petitioner’s contention that the PCR judge’s “findings fail to address the testimony offered and the evidence available in the transcript regarding the jurors that were struck and sat on the jury” is not properly before this Court because he did not present it to the PCR judge, either in his proposed order or his Rule 59(e), SCRCF, motion.

The petitioner in a PCR action, bears the burden of proving the allegations in his application. *Butler v. State*, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813 (1985). Where the application alleges ineffective assistance of counsel as a ground for relief, the petitioner must make a twofold showing. First, he must demonstrate that his attorneys’ “representation fell below an objective

---

<sup>1</sup> See *Batson v. Kentucky*, 476 U.S. 79 (1986).

standard of reasonableness.” *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687-88 (1984). “A fair assessment of attorney performance requires that every effort be made to eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight, to reconstruct the circumstances of counsel's challenged conduct, and to evaluate the conduct from counsel's perspective at the time. Because of the difficulties inherent in making the evaluation, a court must indulge a strong presumption that counsel's conduct falls within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance; that is, the defendant must overcome the presumption that, under the circumstances, the challenged action ‘might be considered sound trial strategy.’ ” *Id.* at 688-89. (Citation omitted).

Even if an inmate proves deficient performance, he must also prove that he was prejudiced by his attorney’s ineffectiveness. This requires proof “that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome.” *Id.* at 694. It is insufficient to prove “that the errors had some conceivable effect on the outcome of the proceeding.” *Id.* at 693. Instead, “[c]ounsel's errors must be ‘so serious as to deprive the defendant of a fair trial, a trial whose result is reliable.’” *Harrington v. Richter*, 562 U.S. 86, 104 (2011) (quoting *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 687).

In *Batson*, the United States Supreme Court overruled *Swain v. Alabama*, 380 U.S. 202 (1965), and held that the Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment “forbids the States to strike black veniremen on the assumption that they will be biased in a particular case simply because the defendant is black. The core guarantee of equal protection, ensuring citizens that their State will not discriminate on account of race, would be meaningless were we to approve the exclusion of jurors on the basis of such assumptions, which arise solely from the jurors’ race.” *See Batson*, 476 U.S. at 97-98. More recently, the Court explained in *Flowers v.*

*Mississippi*, 139 S.Ct. 2228, 2243 (2019), that:

In the decades since *Batson*, this Court's cases have vigorously enforced and reinforced the decision, and guarded against any backsliding. See [*Foster v. Chatman*, 578 U. S. —, 136 S.Ct. 1737, 195 L.Ed.2d 1 (2016)]; [*Snyder v. Louisiana*, 552 U.S. 472, 128 S.Ct. 1203, 170 L.Ed.2d 175 (2008)]; [*Miller-El v. Dretke*, 545 U.S. 231, 125 S.Ct. 2317, 162 L.Ed.2d 196 (2005) (*Miller-El II*)]. Moreover, the Court has extended *Batson* in certain ways. A defendant of any race may raise a *Batson* claim, and a defendant may raise a *Batson* claim even if the defendant and the excluded juror are of different races. See [*Hernandez v. Texas*, 347 U.S. 475, 477-478, 74 S.Ct. 667 (1954)]; [*Powers v. Ohio*, 499 U.S. 400, 406, 111 S.Ct. 1364 (1991)]. Moreover, *Batson* now applies to gender discrimination, to a criminal defendant's peremptory strikes, and to civil cases. See *J. E. B. v. Alabama ex rel. T. B.*, 511 U.S. 127, 129, 114 S.Ct. 1419, 128 L.Ed.2d 89 (1994); *Georgia v. McCollum*, 505 U.S. 42, 59, 112 S.Ct. 2348, 120 L.Ed.2d 33 (1992); *Edmonson v. Leesville Concrete Co.*, 500 U.S. 614, 616, 111 S.Ct. 2077, 114 L.Ed.2d 660 (1991).

See also *Rivera v. Illinois*, 556 U.S. 148, 148 (2009) ("Under *Batson* ... and later decisions applying *Batson*, parties are constitutionally prohibited from exercising peremptory challenges to exclude jurors based on race, ethnicity, or sex").

The South Carolina Supreme Court explained in *State v. Rayfield*, 369 S.C. 106, 112, 631 S.E.2d 244, 247 (2006), that:

We set forth the proper procedure for a *Batson* hearing in *State v. Adams*, 322 S.C. 114, 470 S.E.2d 366 (1996) (citing *Purkett v. Elem*, 514 U.S. 765, 115 S.Ct. 1769, 131 L.Ed.2d 834 (1995)). After a party objects to a jury strike, the proponent of the strike must offer a facially race-neutral explanation. This explanation is not required to be persuasive or even plausible. Once the proponent states a reason that is race-neutral, the burden is on the party challenging the strike to show the explanation is mere pretext, either by showing similarly situated members of another race were seated on the jury or the reason given for the strike is so fundamentally implausible as to constitute mere pretext despite a lack of disparate treatment. *Adams*, 322 S.C. at 123-24, 470 S.E.2d at 371-72; *Haigler*, 334 S.C. at 629-30, 515 S.E.2d at 90-91.

See also *Rice v. Collins*, 546 U.S. 333, 338-39 (2006).

Both the jury selection sheet and the trial transcript here reflect that the prosecution exercised four of its five peremptory strikes to remove African-American veniremen. Also,

counsel did not make a *Batson* motion contesting the prosecutor's use of his strikes, after six African-Americans were seated as petit jurors. Four of these seated African American jurors were women and two were men. *App. 2-H; 51-71*.

Lead trial counsel, Beattie I. Butler, Esquire, testified at the PCR hearing that he had made *Batson* motions in some cases tried both before and after Petitioner's trial, and that he had not made *Batson* motions in other cases. Although he could not remember why he did not make a motion in this case, he testified that he would have made the motion if he had thought the State's use of its strikes was an issue. He also conceded that the "50/50" racial composition of the jury "likely could" have impacted his decision not to make a *Batson* motion. *App. 651; 694-97*.

Assistant Ninth Circuit Solicitor Chad Simpson, Esquire, testified that he and Assistant Solicitor Culver Kidd prosecuted Petitioner. They were both involved in the voir dire and jury selection, and they collaborated on jury selection. *App. 755-57*. He did not independently recall the reasons the State struck the four African-American veniremen at issue, even after he had reviewed the trial transcript. Before his testimony, he had pulled and reviewed his entire case file. However, "[t]here is no information in there involving jury selection." He explained that the case files in the Solicitor's Office typically have only jurors' names, addresses and criminal history. *App. 756*. Additionally, the in-house juror information sheets of the Ninth Circuit Solicitor's Office only went back to January 2011 and Petitioner's trial was in November 2010. Likewise, the Charleston County Clerk of Court's Office purges its records after three years. So, he was unable to obtain any information concerning jury selection in this case. *App. 758-59*.

He had also run "rap sheets" on the four jurors using their first and last names, gender and race, but he discovered that "the names were too common." *App. 755-56*. Still, he testified that he takes the concerns of *Batson* "very seriously, almost to a fault" and he felt that the

ultimate composition of Petitioner's jury reflected this. *App. 758*. While he would have had a race-neutral reason for his use of his strikes if counsel had made a *Batson* motion, he was unable to recall those reasons six years after the trial. *App. 758-59*.

Petitioner's appellate attorney, Breen Stevens, Esquire, testified that he saw where the State had exercised four of its five peremptory challenges on African-American veniremen in the course of reviewing the transcript on appeal.<sup>2</sup> He speculated that he might have been able to show that an explanation given by the State was possibly pretext if an argument on this basis had been made at trial. *App. 706-10*. However, the record supports the PCR judge's finding (*App. 825*) that his testimony does not support the present claim "because he candidly admitted that he only had a cold record and that he did not know why the State struck any juror, since the State was not required to explain its strikes at trial." *See App. 708-09*.

In denying relief on this claim, the PCR judge found that:

The current record simply does not support the conclusion that there was a racial animus for any of the strikes used by the prosecution. Although the State's first challenge was used to strike juror 134, an African-American female, the Court notes that the very first juror seated, juror 184, was African-American female. Also, two more African Americans were seated as jurors before the State struck juror 214, an African-American female. Further, a total of six African Americans served on the petit jury. *Tr. p. 2-H*.

The Court finds that the testimony of trial counsel and Mr. Simpson was credible. Thus, the Court finds that the State exercised its peremptory challenges with both an awareness of and sensitivity to the requirements of *Batson*. The Court further finds that counsel, who was a very experienced public defender, would have made a *Batson* motion if he felt that one was appropriate. *See Howell v. Trammell*, 728 F.3d 1202, 1227 (10<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2013) ("Because Howell has not shown any *Batson* violations, he cannot show counsel erred in failing to object. Thus, he is not entitled to habeas relief"); *Chanh Minh Dang v. Giurbino*, 589 F. App'x 385, 386-87 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2015), *cert. denied*, 135 S.Ct. 2864 (2015); *Com. v. Dennis*, 552 Pa.

---

<sup>2</sup> The Court Reporter's header for Mr. Stevens' testimony incorrectly reflects it is the direct examination of trial counsel, Mr. Butler, but it is actually Mr. Stevens' testimony. *See App. 706*.

331, 343, 715 A.2d 404, 409 (1998) (“Appellant offers no evidence that the prosecutor exhibited racial animus in striking African–American venirepersons. Indeed, the impaneled jury included four African–American jurors and one African–American alternate, which indicates a lack of racial animus. Trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to raise a plainly baseless *Batson* claim”). As a result, the Court finds that Applicant has not overcome *Strickland*’s strong presumption that “under the circumstances, the [failure to make a *Batson* motion] ‘might be considered sound trial strategy.’ ” *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 689, 104 S.Ct. at 2065 (citation omitted). See *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 689, 104 S.Ct. 2052. See also *Burt v. Titlow*, 134 S.Ct. 10, 17 (2013) (“It should go without saying that the absence of evidence cannot overcome the ‘strong presumption that counsel’s conduct [fell] within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance’ ”) (citing *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 689, 104 S.Ct. 2052); [*Richter*,] 562 U.S. at 105, 131 S.Ct. at 787 (quoting *Strickland*).

***App. 825-26.***

Again, an appellate court “defer[s] to a PCR court’s findings of fact and will uphold them if there is evidence in the record to support them.” *Smalls*, 422 S.C. at 180, 810 S.E.2d at 839 (citing *Sellner v. State*, 416 S.C. 606, 610, 787 S.E.2d 525, 527 (2016) (citing *Jordan v. State*, 406 S.C. 443, 448, 752 S.E.2d 538, 540 (2013))). See also *Flowers*, 139 S.Ct. at 2244 (“The Court has described the appellate standard of review of the trial court’s factual determinations in a *Batson* hearing as ‘highly deferential.’ .... ‘On appeal, a trial court’s ruling on the issue of discriminatory intent must be sustained unless it is clearly erroneous’ ”) (citations omitted); *State v. Blackwell*, 420 S.C. 127, 143 n. 12, 801 S.E.2d 713, 722 n. 12 (2017) (“The dissent agrees there is evidence to support the trial court’s conclusion; however, it finds the decision is against the preponderance of the evidence. In reaching this conclusion, the dissent disregards our deferential standard of review and effectively acts as a trial court rather than an appellate court”), *cert. denied*, 138 S.Ct. 985 (2018).

Here, the PCR judge’s finding that the record did not “support the conclusion that there was a racial animus for any of the strikes used by the prosecution” is supported by the testimony

of both trial counsel and Mr. Simpson. Likewise, counsel's testimony supports the finding that, as an experienced attorney, he "would have made a *Batson* motion if he felt that one was appropriate."

Further, the PCR judge's reliance on *Strickland*'s "strong presumption" of competent representation was not clearly erroneous. *See Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 689. Since its decision in *Strickland*, the Supreme Court has reiterated this "strong presumption," e.g., *Maryland v. Kulbicki*, 577 U.S. 1, 136 S.Ct. 2, 3 (2015); *Kimmelman v. Morrison*, 477 U.S. 365, 384 (1986), and it has unequivocally held that this "strong presumption," cannot be overcome by a silent record. *See Burt v. Titlow*, 571 U.S. 12, 23 (2013) ("It should go without saying that the absence of evidence cannot overcome the 'strong presumption that counsel's conduct [fell] within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance' ") (citing *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 689). *See also Fretwell v. Norris*, 133 F.3d 621, 623-24 (8<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1998) (reversing the district court's grant of the writ based in part on counsel's inability to recall because this is contrary to the presumption of correctness); *Murtishaw v. Woodford*, 255 F.3d 926, 949-50 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2001) (where record did not reflect whether counsel gave advice, court would not presume to the contrary that advice had not been given); *Romine v. Head*, 253 F.3d 1349, 1357 (11<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2001) (stating that "[w]here, as here, the evidence does not clearly explain what happened, or more accurately why something failed to happen, the party with the burden loses" and holding that trial counsel's "I don't remember" responses will not satisfy a petitioner's burden of proof and overcome the strong presumption of reasonable assistance). Moreover, the record supports application of this presumption to the present claim.

Petitioner asserts for the first time on appeal that the PCR judge's "findings fail to address the testimony offered and the evidence available in the transcript regarding the jurors

that were struck and sat on the jury.” Respondent submits that this argument is not preserved for appellate review because Petitioner did not present it to the PCR judge in either his proposed order or in his Rule 59(e), SCRCF, motion. *App. 832-37*. See *Marlar v. State*, 375 S.C. 407, 410, 653 S.E.2d 266, 267 (2007) (“Because [applicant] did not make a Rule 59(e) motion asking the PCR judge to make specific findings of fact and conclusions of law on his allegations, the issues were not preserved for appellate review, and the Court of Appeals erred in addressing the merits of the issues and remanding the matter to the PCR judge”); *Burgess v. State*, 402 S.C. 92, 95, 738 S.E.2d 264, 265-66 (Ct. App. 2013).

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